# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-10-2017

# Clark v. Jones Gledhill Fuhrman Gourley Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44477

### Statement of the Case

This case involves the scope and enforceability of Idaho's Attorney Lien statute as it applies to defendants' counsel when defendants' counsel had actual and constructive knowledge of the attorney's entitlement to a lien, as it applies to defendants' counsel who possesses settlement funds, and as it applies to defendants' counsel who concealed both the actual settlement and proceeds from that settlement from the attorney claiming the lien.

#### The course of the proceedings below and the disposition

Judge Hoagland granted Defendants' Motion to Dismiss according to I.R.C.P. 12(b), denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Reconsider, denied Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Complaint and awarded Attorney Fees to Defendants according to I.C. §12-121. The Court also granted Intervenor's<sup>1</sup> Motion to Seal Records.

#### Facts

The Appellants, (Collectively "Clark"), were Plaintiffs' counsel and ultimately cocounsel with the Spence Law Firm in *Forbush, et al., vs. Sagecrest, et al.*, Ada County Case No. CV PI 1304325. ("*Forbush* case") (R. p. 9).

Two of the Defendants in the *Forbush* case were Anfinson Plumbing, LLC and its employee Daniel Bakken, both of whom were represented by the Respondents, (Collectively "Jones Gledhill"). (R. p. 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Intervenor's" are Clark's former Clients, who are also represented by Jones Gledhill's counsel. (R. p. 35). Clark believes that Jones Gledhill tendered the defense of this case to the Spence Law Firm as likely there is an indemnification and hold harmless clause in the Anfinson Plumbing settlement documents.

Clark hereby incorporates the "facts" as alleged in *Plaintiffs' Memorandum Filed In Opposition To Defendants' Motion To Dismiss* in this case. (R. pp. 252–254, filed on appeal under seal by Court Order). Clark also hereby incorporates essentially the same factual allegations stated in *Plaintiffs' Memorandum Filed In Opposition To Defendants' Motion To Dismiss* filed in *Clark et. al v. Forbush et. al.*, Ada County Case No. CV-OC-1604217<sup>2</sup>, (R. pp. 293 –296, filed on appeal under seal by Court Order), which however remains a public record in *Clark et. al v. Forbush et. al.*, Canyon County Case No. CV-2016-06347-c.<sup>3</sup> The Complaint Clark filed in *Clark et. al v. Forbush et. al.*, Ada County Case No. CV-OC-1604217 is also in the record on appeal. (R. pp. 329–342, which remains a public record in that case, but which is filed on appeal under seal by Court Order).

Clark and the Spence Firm had a fundamental disagreement concerning the Spence Firm's recommendation to the Clients in the *Forbush* case to pursue settlement with A.O. Smith after the Spence Firm failed to present relevant evidence in response to A.O. Smith's motion for Summary Judgment, which the Court ultimately granted.<sup>4</sup> The disagreement with Clark led the Spence Firm to present an ultimatum to Clients regarding who would continue to represent Clients in the *Forbush* case. (R. pp. 240–41). The Spence Firm informed Clark that should the Clients choose Clark, the Spence Firm would withdraw and assert its lien on any proceeds Clark obtained. (R. pp. 243–46).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Which is now titled, *Clark et. al v. Forbush et. al.*, Canyon County Case No. CV-2016-06347-c, after a change of venue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Please see Clark's Motion for Judicial Notice filed in this Appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Judge Copsey ruled that A. O. Smith did not owe Plaintiffs any duty of care and granted summary judgment. Because Judge Copsey so ruled any remaining defendants have no authority to include A.O. Smith on the verdict form or allege A. O. Smith somehow had some comparative fault.

Ultimately, Clients chose the Spence Firm, (R. p. 242), and Clark withdrew from the *Forbush* case on August 26, 2015.

Upon withdrawing from the *Forbush* case, Clark sent a letter to counsel for the remaining defendants, including Jones Gledhill, in which Clark asserted a lien according to I.C. § 3-205, and requested that Respondents protect Clark's lien by including his name on any settlement check. (R. pp. 12 and 15). Neither addressee responded or denied Clark's entitlement to a lien under the circumstances.

Notwithstanding Clark's request, and Jones Gledhill's knowledge that Clark was attorney of record for Plaintiffs in the *Forbush* case for at least as long as Jones Gledhill's involvement in that case, Jones Gledhill concealed the settlement and failed to protect Clark's interest in the settlement funds. (R. p. 12). Jones Gledhill delivered the settlement funds to the Spence Law Firm and proceeded to dismiss the *Forbush v. Sagecrest* case.

Clark's co-counsel, the Spence Law Firm, who also had knowledge of Clark's lien, (R. p. 232), also concealed the settlement from Clark and thereafter refused to pay Clark any fees to which he was entitled for his three and half years of work in the *Forbush* case, and thereafter sought to extort a settlement from Clark by withholding Clark's attorney fees. (R. p. 234).

Clark has had to sue his former co-counsel to recover his entitled attorney fees because Jones Gledhill failed to protect Clark's lien and the Spence Firm has refused to pay Clark his entitled fees. *Clark et. al v. Forbush et. al.*, Ada County Case No. CV-OC-1604217. Clark filed that action on March 3, 2016, and before filing suit against Jones Gledhill on March 10, 2016.

### **Issues Presented on Appeal**

- 1. Whether the District Court erred when it granted the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss?
- 2. Whether the District Court erred when it awarded attorney fees to Respondents?
- 3. Whether the District Court exercised appropriate discretion when it ordered documents sealed that were already of record in a separate case filed in Ada County?
- 4. Whether the Appellants are entitled to costs and attorney fees on appeal?

## ARGUMENT

## I. Legal Standards on Appeal

## A. Statutory Interpretation

Recently the Idaho Supreme Court, in Hoffer v. Shappard, reiterated its duty to evaluate

statutes giving utmost regard for legislative intent.

'The objective of statutory interpretation is to give effect to legislative intent.' *State v. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471, 475, 163 P.3d 1183, 1187 (2007). 'When interpreting a statute, the Court begins with the literal words of the statute . . .' *Williams v. Blue Cross of Idaho*, 151 Idaho 515, 521, 260 P.3d 1186, 1192 (2011). 'If the statutory language is unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body *must* be given effect . . .' *Idaho Youth Ranch, Inc. v. Ada Cnty. Bd. of Equalization*, 157 Idaho 180, 184-85, 335 P.3d 25, 29-30 (2014) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr., Ltd. v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Ada Cnty.*, 146 Idaho 753, 755, 203 P.3d 683, 685 (2009)). This Court does not have the authority to modify an unambiguous legislative enactment. *Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 895, 265 P.3d 502, 508 (2011) (quoting *Berry v. Koehler*, 84 Idaho 170, 177, 369 P.2d 1010, 1013 (1962)).

Hoffer v. Shappard, 160 Idaho 870, 884, 380 P.3d 681, 695 (2016).

The Supreme Court had previously stated that when interpreting statutory language, the

Court must interpret the words chosen by the legislature by their "plain, usual and ordinary

meaning." *Ada Cnty. Prosecuting Attorney v. 2007 Legendary Motorcycle*, 154 Idaho 351, 353, 298 P.3d 245, 247, (2013), citing *Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 893, 265 P.3d 502, 506 (2011).

The Supreme Court has also defined statutory ambiguity and concluded that a statute is only ambiguous if the language could be construed so as to have two rational meanings. "A statute is ambiguous where the language is capable of more than one reasonable construction." *Ada Cnty. Prosecuting Attorney v. 2007 Legendary Motorcycle*, 154 Idaho at 353, quoting *Porter* 

v. Bd. of Trustees, Preston School Dist. No. 201, 141 Idaho 11, 14, 105 P.3d 671, 674 (2004).

In Skelton v. Spencer, 102 Idaho 69, 76, 625 P.2d 1072, 1079, (1981), interpreting

I.C. § 3-205, the Supreme Court determined that the attorney lien statute specified five elements for a valid lien:

(1) (T)hat there is a fund in court or otherwise available for distribution on equitable principles,

(2) that the services of the attorney operated substantially or primarily to secure the fund out of which he seeks to be paid,

(3) that it was agreed that counsel look to the fund rather than the client for his compensation,

(4) that the lien claimed is limited to costs, fees or other disbursements incurred in the litigation by which the fund was raised and

(5) that there are equitable considerations which necessitate the recognition and application of the charging lien.

Then in Frazee v. Frazee, 104 Idaho 463, 660 P.2d 928 (1983), the Supreme Court

distinguished the Frazee fact situation because there was no settlement "fund." "We note the

difference in the instant case from the situation in Skelton v. Spencer, supra. There a "fund" was in existen." *Frazee v. Frazee*, 104 Idaho at 466. (Typographical error in original) This case involves a *Skelton v. Spencer* situation.

#### B. Standard for Review on Appeal

1. Statutory Interpretation. The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over

which this Court exercises free review. Gonzalez v. Thacker, 148 Idaho 879, 881, 231 P.3d 524,

526 (2009), citing State v. Hart, 135 Idaho 827, 829, 25 P.3d 850, 852 (2001).

2. Abuse of Discretion. "A trial court does not abuse its discretion if it (1) correctly

perceives the issue as discretionary, (2) acts within the bounds of discretion and applies the

correct legal standards, and (3) reaches the decision through an exercise of reason." Elliott v.

Murdock, 2016 Opinion No. 141, at \*4 (December 2, 2016), quoting O'Connor v. Harger

Constr., Inc., 145 Idaho 904, 909, 188 P.3d 846, 851 (2008).

### II. IDAHO'S ATTORNEY LIEN STATUTE IS CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS AND PROVIDES FOR AN ATTORNEY LIEN TO AUTOMATICALLY "ATTACH" TO ANY SETTLEMENT "FUND"

The Idaho legislature, when it enacted Idaho's attorney lien statute, clearly and

unequivocally stated their intent that the attorney's lien attaches from the "commencement of the

action."

3-205. ATTORNEYS' FEES -- LIEN. The measure and mode of compensation of attorneys and counselors at law is left to the agreement, express or implied, of the parties, which is not restrained by law. From the commencement of an action, or the service of an answer containing a counterclaim, the attorney who appears for a party has a lien upon his client's cause of action or counterclaim, which attaches to a verdict, report, decision or judgment in his client's favor and the proceeds thereof in whosoever hands they may come; and can not be

affected by any settlement between the parties before or after judgment. (Emphasis added)

The Supreme Court has also ruled that lien statutes are by nature remedial. *Franklin Bldg. Supply Co. v. SUMPER*, 139 Idaho 846, 851, 87 P.3d 955, 960 (2004). As remedial legislation, Idaho's Attorney Lien Statute must be interpreted "broadly to effectuate the intent of the legislature." *Selkirk Seed Co. v. State Ins. Fund*, 135 Idaho 434, 438, 18 P.3d 956, 959 (2000). "Variously phrased, the intent of the law on this point is to allow the attorney an *interest* in the fruits of his skill and labors. The lien secures his right to compensation for obtaining the recovery or 'fund' for his client." *Skelton v. Spencer*, 102 Idaho 69, 77, 625 P.2d 1072, 1080 (1981).

In *Frazee*, the Supreme Court found that an attorney charging lien did not attach until the party claiming the lien took "some affirmative act ... in reducing it to a judgment or order of the court." *Frazee v. Frazee*, 104 Idaho at 466. However, as the Supreme Court noted in that case, *Frazee* did not apply to overrule *Skelton v. Spence*. "We note the difference in the instant case from the situation in Skelton v. Spencer, supra. There a "fund" was in existen." *Frazee v. Frazee*, 104 Idaho at 466. The "fund" vs. "no fund" situation is a key distinction when interpreting and applying the lien statute that the District Court disregarded below. If there is a fund, then the attorney lien statute applies. If there is no fund arising from the attorney's efforts, as in the *Frazee* situation, then no lien attaches until it is "perfected" through some judicial proceeding.

In this case, like the *Skelton* case, there was a "fund" created by the Anfinson plumbing settlement, so *Frazee* is not applicable and the District Court's reliance on *Frazee* was error. The

District Court also cited to *In re Harris*, 258 B.R. 8 (Bankr.Idaho, 2000), but that case merely confirms that *Frazee* only applies where no "fund" exists. "The Idaho Supreme Court also seems to recognize the possibility of a charging lien in a 'non-fund' situation. *Frazee v. Frazee*, 104 Idaho 463, 660 P.2d 928 (1983)." *In re Harris*, 258 BR at 14.

Moreover, while the "potential economic coercion" that concerned the Supreme Court in *Frazee* is limited to the situation presented in *Frazee* where an attorney sought to attach property outside of the case or not associated with any "fund" created by the attorney's efforts. There is no similar threat or concern, however, when the claim of lien attaches to the fund created by the attorney's efforts and limited by his contractual agreement with clients, which is the situation here.

By the clear wording of the Attorney Lien Statute, the attorney lien attaches to the fund when created.

**From the commencement of an action**,...a party has a lien upon his client's cause of action or counterclaim, which attaches to a verdict, report, decision or judgment in his client's favor and the proceeds thereof in whosoever hands they may come; and can not be affected by any settlement between the parties before or after judgment. (Emphasis added)

#### I.C. § 3-205.

If there is no "fund," a situation not addressed specifically in I.C. § 3-205, then an attorney must sue to perfect the lien, and no liability attaches before the lien is perfected. That is the limited ruling in *Frazee*. To rule otherwise and require an attorney to "perfect" their attorney lien before liability could attach in all cases undermines the intent of the lien statute and conflicts with the clear wording of I.C. § 3-205.

Accordingly, if a lien is created by statute, because an attorney's efforts resulted in a fund, and that attorney suffers damages when *someone* ignores or disregards the lien, then the scope and amount of any liability can then be determined in litigation if necessary. That "someone" certainly can be the client, co-counsel, or opposing counsel as each falls into the broad category of "...whosoever hands they may come...." Here, Jones Gledhill knew Clark had been Plaintiffs' counsel for several years, knew that Clark was claiming a lien, and knew there was a settlement. Thereafter, Jones Gledhill either possessed or controlled the settlement funds. Then, notwithstanding Jones Gledhill's knowledge Clark was entitled to a lien, Jones Gledhill ignored and disregarded Clark's lien and delivered the settlement funds to the Spence Firm. As Clark's lien arose by statute upon settlement, and the lien attached to those "proceeds" and in "whosoever hands they may come," it was error to dismiss Clark's case. Clark has a cause of action against Jones Gledhill for the amount of his lien or any damages associated and resulting from Jones Gledhill's failure to protect Clark's interest, including the litigation costs Clark is incurring to pursue his claim against the Spence Firm and his former clients.

#### III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DISMISSED CLARK'S CASE

To the extent the District Court based its decision by interpreting I.C. § 3-205, that decision is subject to free review. As nothing in the statute requires an attorney to do anything to affirmatively perfect his lien, then the District Court's ruling that I.C. § 3-205 requires some "affirmative judicial action" to perfect an attorney lien is contrary to the clear and unambiguous language in I.C. § 3-205. There is no language in this statute that even remotely addresses any

procedural requirements. This Court should therefore exercise its authority to freely review the District Court's decision and reverse.

Conversely, to the extent that the District Court's decision is based on application of existing case law, then the abuse of discretion standard applies. This Court should also reverse as the District Court did not apply the correct legal standard and therefore abused its discretion when it dismissed Clark's case.

The District Court ruled below, relying on *Frazee* and *In re Harris*, that as Clark had not yet *perfected* his lien, no liability could attach to Jones Gledhill.

... Without affirmative adjudicative actions to perfect his lien by "reducing it to a judgment or order of the court," no authority exists to pay Clark any amount of money on behalf of his former clients. See *Frazee v. Frazee*, 104 Idaho 463, 466, 660 P.2d 928, 931 (1983); *In re* Harris, 258 B.R. 8, 14 (Bkrtcy. D. Idaho 2000). The law requires these affirmative adjudicative actions to strike a proper balance between potential economic coercion and equity. (R. p. 68).

Had Clark taken some affirmative adjudicatory action to perfect his lien, the amount owed would have been reduced to an amount certain, taken the form of a court order or judgment, which would have then been applicable to the parties and their counsel. Violation of that order could have been enforced by contempt and/or by a damage action against the parties and attorneys. (R. p. 68).

But Clark took no such affirmative adjudicative actions to perfect his claimed lien. Neither was there a contract between Clark and Jones Gledhill. Consequently there was no order or contract that these Defendants violated. They owed no contractual or other legal duty to Clark to protect his interests. It was Clark's duty to protect his own interests, which he failed to do. (R. p. 69).

Undeniably, the District Court's ruling is limited to its interpretation of Frazee. Again,

however, unlike the Frazee case, there was a settlement fund to which Clark's lien attached by

statute, the very situation in Skelton, and distinguished in Frazee. If the lien attached to the

settlement funds when the settlement was achieved, then so did Jones Gledhill's liability for ignoring the lien. The resulting damages related to Jones Gledhill's conduct could and should have been addressed in the proceeding below. Based on the facts presented here, Frazee was inapplicable, so the District Court's reliance solely on that case was error. Accordingly, the District Court abused its discretion by applying the wrong legal standard and should be reversed.

Moreover, even for the sake of argument that *Frazee* did apply, the District Court's ruling ignores the fact that Jones Gledhill directly interfered with Clark's ability to "perfect" his lien. If Jones Gledhill would have been liable had Clark perfected his lien, as the District Court ruled, (R. p. 68), why then would Jones Gledhill escape liability when they interfered with Clark's ability to obtain a perfected lien in the first place? Clark believed he had adequately pled that Jones Gledhill had interfered with Clark's ability to timely perfect his lien in his Complaint. (R. p. 8–23). However, although Clark sought leave to amend his complaint to very specifically plead that Jones Gledhill had interfered with Clark's ability to perfect his lien, (R. pp. 305–317), Judge Hoagland summarily denied that motion and disregarded the additional facts as pled. (R. pp. 74–76). The District Court also erred when it denied Clark's Motion to Amend.

The Supreme Court ruled in *Frazee*, that a "charging lien of an attorney is equitable in nature...." *Frazee v. Frazee*, 104 Idaho at 466. Thus, all equitable defenses apply, including unclean hands and estoppel. If Clark failed to timely obtain a perfected attorney lien because Jones Gledhill, who knew Clark was asserting a lien, and who then purposefully and intentionally withheld information from Clark, then equity should intervene to prevent Jones

Gledhill from raising the lack of a perfected lien as a defense. Here, however, Judge Hoagland appeared to approve of and condone Jones Gledhill's "hide the ball" conduct.

Perhaps Clark seeks to perfect the claimed lien in the other case against the former clients and Spence, but the settlement check and proceeds have already gone through the hands of these Defendants, never to return. Thus, Plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of a claim that would entitle him to relief against these Defendants.

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