Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-7-2017

Clark v. Jones Gledhill Fuhrman Gourley Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44477

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

Per Clark's own allegations, the litigation privilege applies to bar his action against Jones Gledhill. Clark expressly alleges that Jones Gledhill is a law firm and Graham and Fuhrman are attorneys; that they represented Anfinson in the underlying action at all relevant times; and that they conveyed a check from Anfinson to Spence in their capacity as legal counsel for Anfinson per a settlement agreement between the parties. (See R. 17 at ¶¶ 2-5; R. 20 at ¶¶ 21, 23.)

Notably, Clark does not—and cannot credibly—allege any independent act by Jones Gledhill outside the scope of its representation that indicates it was acting solely for its own interest and not in Anfinson's interests. Absent allegations of such conduct, the litigation privilege bars Clark's action. Although the district court never had to reach this issue, the privilege is an alternative basis upon which to affirm the district court's dismissal of Clark's complaint under Rule 12(b)(6). See Martel v. Bulotti, 138 Idaho 451, 454-55, 65 P.3d 192, 195-96 (2003) (noting Court "may uphold decisions on alternate grounds").

II. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Denying Clark's Motion to Amend.

The district court denied Clark's motion to amend his complaint to add new defendants, including Anfinson and its insurer, and to assert several new allegations. (See R. 74-76 (order denying motion to amend); R. 308-17 (proposed amendments).) Although Clark does not identify the district court's denial of his motion to amend as an issue on appeal, he expressly states that it erred by denying his motion to amend. (See Appellants' Brief at 4, 11 ("The District Court also erred when it denied Clark's Motion to Amend.").) Clark fails to make any direct argument or cite any authority challenging the district court's denial, but out of an abundance of caution, Jones Gledhill addresses the district court's denial, which was proper.

A. Standard of Review

The denial of a plaintiff's motion to amend a complaint is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Spur Products Corp. v. Stoel Rives LLP*, 142 Idaho 41, 43, 122 P.3d 300, 302 (2005). In reviewing an exercise of discretion, the Court must consider: "(1) whether the court correctly perceived that the issue was one of discretion; (2) whether the court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Id.* (quotations omitted). The denial of a motion to amend is appropriate if the proposed claim is futile. *Shapley v. Centurion Life Ins. Co.*, 154 Idaho 875, 882, 303 P.3d 234, 241 (2013).

22

B. Clark's Proposed Amendments Are Futile.

Clark's proposed amendments are futile. Notably, Clark did not attempt to assert a new or different claim for relief. Rather, he proposed (1) additional allegations in support of his original claim, (R. 313 at ¶¶ 26-32); and (2) the inclusion of additional defendants, including Anfinson and "John Doe Insurance Companies"—presumably Anfinson's insurer. (R. 308-10.) Regarding the proposed defendants, the district court ruled that "[t]o the extent that Plaintiffs seek to add new Defendants to this case, those new Defendant[s] would have no liability to Plaintiffs for the same reason that the existing Defendants have no liability." (R. 75.) This ruling is correct, and Clark does not challenge it on appeal.

Regarding Clark's new allegations in support of his original claim, the district court "reviewed Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend, the Proposed Amended Complaint, Memoranda, and Declaration" and concluded that "[t]hese filings do not add any new facts or authorities that bear on the correctness of the judgment of the court." (*Id.*) Clark appears to challenge this ruling arguing that "the District Court's ruling ignores the fact that Jones Gledhill directly interfered with Clark's ability to 'perfect' his lien. . . . Clark sought leave to amend his complaint *to very specifically plead* that Jones Gledhill had interfered with Clark's ability to perfect his lien." (Appellants' Brief at 11 (emphasis added).)

Clark's proposed allegations, however, belie this argument. Contrary to Clark's assertion, he never even uses the words "interfere" or "interference" in his proposed allegations. (See R. 313 at ¶¶ 26-32.) Further, he never argued in support of his motion to amend that he was attempting to specifically plead Jones Gledhill interfered or otherwise prevented him from

perfecting his lien. (*See* R. 322-23.) Rather, Clark argues for the first time on appeal that he alleged "interference" by Jones Gledhill. Because Clark failed to raise this argument below, the Court should reject it. *Crowley v. Critchfield*, 145 Idaho 509, 512, 181 P.3d 435, 438 (2007) ("The longstanding rule of this Court is that we will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal."). Moreover, to the extent Clark is attempting to assert a negligence claim for tortious interference, his proposed allegations fail to state any of the requisite elements of such a claim. *See Jensen v. Westberg*, 115 Idaho 1021, 1027, 772 P.2d 228, 234 (Ct. App. 1988) (identifying elements of tortious interference).

Rather than "specifically" pleading interference, Clark's proposed allegations appear to be an effort allege the *Skelton* requirements, which he originally failed to allege. His efforts, however, fail. Despite his new allegations, Clark still cannot meet the elements of *Skelton*. Most obviously, that he sued his Clients *before* suing Jones Gledhill establish he was not "look[ing] to the fund rather than the client for his compensation." *See Skelton*, 102 Idaho at 76, 625 P.2d at 1079. (R. 313 at ¶27 (proposing allegation that he sued his Clients first).) Also, Clark's allegation that his lien is limited to his earned fees is contradicted by his allegation that he is seeking fees against Jones Gledhill both for pursuing *Clark and* for general damages of "at least \$500,000," which greatly exceeds any amount that Clark would be entitled under the terms of his fee agreements. *See id.* (requiring lien limited to amount incurred in underlying litigation). (*See* R. 314 at ¶¶ 39-40 (damage allegations); *see also infra* at pp.19-20 (discussing Clark's fee agreements).) Because Clark's newly proposed allegations still do not state a viable claim and

because Clark raises arguments not raised below, this Court should affirm the district court's denial of Clark's motion to amend.

III. The Fee Award Under § 12-121 Was Not an Abuse of Discretion.

Clark pursued this case frivolously, unreasonably and without foundation. He disregarded established law; he did not argue any new or novel interpretation of § 3-205; he did not argue the law should be extended or modified; and he was specifically warned by Jones Gledhill before filing his action that existing case law precluded his claim. Furthermore, Clark unnecessarily increased the cost of litigation by filing extraneous information in the record unrelated to Jones Gledhill's Rule 12(b)(6) motion and by repeatedly disclosing confidential information in the record. For these reasons, the district court properly awarded Jones Gledhill fees under Idaho Code § 12-121.

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews an award of attorney fees under § 12-121 at the trial level, applying a three-part test. *Anderson v. Larsen*, 136 Idaho 402, 409, 34 P.3d 1085, 1092 (2001). The inquiry is:

- (1) whether the trial court perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to do it; and
- (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

Id.

B. Clark's Action Is Frivolous, Unreasonable and Without Foundation.

This Court should affirm the district court's award of \$26,250 in attorney fees to Jones Gledhill under § 12-121. Rule 54 of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure provides that attorney

fees under § 12-121 may be awarded if the court finds that "the case was brought, pursued or defended frivolously, unreasonably or without foundation, which finding must be in writing and include the basis and reasons for the award." Idaho R. Civ. P. 54(e)(2). In support of its fee award, the district court ruled that "Defendants are the prevailing parties in this case, which is undisputed by Plaintiffs." (R. 207; *see also* R. 100 (conceding Jones Gledhill is prevailing party).)

Regarding the frivolous, unreasonable and foundationless nature of the case, the district court further concluded:

Plaintiffs disregarded established case law finding that the failure to take affirmative adjudicative steps to perfect an attorney's lien renders the claim unenforceable. . . . Plaintiffs did not argue a new or novel interpretation of Idaho Code § 3-205, nor argue that the law should be extended or modified. Plaintiff's [sic] "novel legal question" merely argued that the Court should ignore established precedent, which it has declined to do.

Moreover, in correspondence before the suit was filed, Plaintiffs were specifically warned by Defendants that the claim failed based on Idaho case law.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs' [sic] took action that increased the cost of litigation by filing [confidential] documents [which] did not add anything to Plaintiffs' case anyhow.

.... [T]here was no legal basis for Plaintiffs' claim, of which Plaintiffs' [sic] were fully aware before filing suit, and then Plaintiffs also unnecessarily increased the cost of litigation.

Therefore, the Court finds and concludes that Plaintiffs brought and pursued this case frivolously, unreasonably and without foundation. . . .

(R. 212-13 (footnote citations to record omitted).)

In support of its award, the district court also cited *Idaho Military Historical Soc'y, Inc.*v. Maslen, 156 Idaho 624, 329 P.3d 1072 (2014). (R. 211.) In that case, Maslen had possession of a historical "Fairchild" airplane owned by the Idaho Military Historical Society ("IMHS"). *Id.* at 626, 329 P.3d at 1074. Maslen volunteered to store the plane in his hangar space and never indicated he expected payment. *Id.* at 627, 329 P.3d at 1075. Later, Maslen refused to surrender the plane to the IMHS and filed a claim of lien with the FAA seeking compensation for expenses incurred while storing the plane. *Id.* at 626, 329 P.3d at 1074. After a bench trial, the court found Maslen's "claim of lien was with reckless disregard for the truth or falsity of the charges therein" and ordered Maslen to surrender the plane to IMHS. *Id.* at 629, 329 P.3d at 1077.

Further, the court awarded IMHS fees under § 12-121 and Rule 54. *Id.*

Maslen challenged the fee award on appeal, but the Court affirmed. It noted that Maslen's "claim of lien was without foundation, because there was no evidence that [he] was entitled to compensation." *Id.* at 631, 329 P.3d at 1079. It also noted that "[t]he record in this case is clear that litigation to obtain possession of the aircraft should never have been necessary. The litigation was necessitated by factual claims that were indefensible." *Id.* at 632, 329 P.3d at 1080.

As in *Maslen*, Clark's litigation to recover his fees against his opponent, Jones Gledhill, should have never happened. Indeed, Clark eventually conceded that his lien was not enforceable against Jones Gledhill because he had not perfected his lien. Clark made this concession in support of his motion to amend, which he filed after oral argument but before the district court entered its Memorandum Decision. Specifically, Clark concedes "the lien is not

enforceable or collectable until such time [as] it is ultimately reduced to judgment, because the actual damages are not yet determined." (R. 320.) Further, Clark concedes he has no idea what the judgment amount will be but that he is attempting to determine that amount in his separate *Clark* action. (R. 321-22.)

Clark cites to these concessions and argues that he was in "good faith" because his claim against Jones Gledhill "was not yet ripe." (Appellants' Brief at 16.) Apparently, Clark's assertion is that he could eventually enforce his lien against Jones Gledhill after adjudicating the amount of the lien against his Clients and Spence. Clark's claim, however, will never be ripe against Jones Gledhill because Jones Gledhill does not now and will never possess the Clients' settlement proceeds, as Clark's allegations conceded, and this district court correctly noted. (R. 20 at ¶ 21; R 72.) Accordingly, Clark's claim of "good faith" is hollow.

Clark's argument that he presented a "novel legal issue" is also meritless. (*See* Appellants' Brief at 15.) Clark contends his "novel" issue is Jones Gledhill's purported "interference" with his ability to perfect his lien. (*Id.*) As discussed above, however, this issue was never alleged or raised below and, regardless, Clark still fails to state a valid claim. (*See infra* at pp. 26-27.) Moreover, it is not "novel" to request that the court simply "ignore established precedent," as the district court noted. (R. 212.)

Finally, contrary to Clark's argument, the district court did not abuse its discretion by referring to Clark's filing of confidential records in support of its fee award.⁶ (Appellants' Brief

28

_

⁶ Notably, Jones Gledhill did not seek fees associated with sealing the records. (*See* R. 148-53 (identifying billing entries but excluding any for motion to seal).) Rather, the Clients specially

at 16-17.) The court clearly understood the nature of Clark's wrongful disclosures in both this case and Clark. In its Memorandum Decision, the district court noted that Clark had filed the same confidential records in Clark but had stipulated to a protective order in that case to rectify his wrongful disclosures. (R. 68.) Clark's agreement with counsel to maintain confidentiality—followed the very next day by his disclosure of confidential information in the record in this case—is also explained elsewhere in the record. (See R. 367-68 at ¶ 4-7 (explaining Clark's disclosures); R. 139 at pp. 12:1-13:24 (same).) Clark has no valid excuse for his improper disclosures or for unreasonably increasing the cost of this litigation by making them.

The district court obviously perceived the issue as one of discretion and acted both within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the applicable legal standards while exercising reason. See Anderson, 136 Idaho at 409, 34 P.3d at 1092 (2001). It carefully reviewed the fillings in support of Jones Gledhill's fee request, made specific findings and conclusions, and awarded Jones Gledhill the amount it concluded was reasonable. This Court should affirm that award.

IV. The District Court Properly Sealed the Clients' Confidential Records.

At the outset, Jones Gledhill notes that the district court's decision to seal records has absolutely no bearing on the merits of this appeal, including Jones Gledhill's motion to dismiss, Clark's motion to amend or the fee award. Clark does not and cannot argue that the district

appeared under Rule 32 of the Idaho Administrative Rules to request sealing. They, however,

appeared under Rule 32 of the Idaho Administrative Rules to request sealing. They, however, did not file a petition for fees.

29

court's decision to seal documents somehow impacted its decisions on the merits, other than to conclude that Clark had unnecessarily increased the cost of this litigation.

Further, Clark's former Clients—not Jones Gledhill—requested the documents to be sealed to protect their attorney-client privilege and work product, which Clark intentionally filed in the record. Jones Gledhill has no stake in whether these documents are sealed or not. The Clients, however, continue to assert that the documents the district court sealed should remain sealed to protect their interests in their underlying case, which remains on-going. *See Forbush v. Sagecrest Multi-Family Prop. Owners' Ass'n*, Supreme Court No. 44053 (filed March 21, 2016).

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the district court's decision to seal records under Rule 32 of the Idaho Court Administrative Rules for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Gurney,* 152 Idaho 502, 503, 272 P.3d 474, 475 (2011). When a trial court's discretionary decision is reviewed on appeal, the appellate court conducts a multi-tiered inquiry to determine: (1) whether the lower court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the lower court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to the specific choices before it; and (3) whether the lower court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Id.*

Furthermore, "[h]armless error is not grounds for reversal." *Rogers v. Trim House*, 99 Idaho 746, 750, 588 P.2d 945, 949 (1979). An error is harmless if it does not affect the substantial rights of a party. *Clark v. Klein*, 137 Idaho 154, 156, 45 P.3d 810, 812 (2002). A substantial right is one that potentially affects the outcome of the litigation. *Rogers*, 99 Idaho at

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